#### No. 71348

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

EMILIA GARCIA,
Appellant,

Electronically Filed Oct 15 2018 10:33 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

٧.

# ANDREA AWERBACH, Respondent.

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

D. Lee Roberts, Jr., Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 8877
Marisa Rodriguez, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 13234
Ryan T. Gormley, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 13494
WEINBERG, WHEELER, HUDGINS,
GUNN & DIAL, LLC
6385 S. Rainbow Blvd., Suite 400
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
Telephone: (702) 938-3838
Facsimile: (702) 938-3864
lroberts@wwhgd.com
mrodriguez@wwhgd.com

Corey M. Eschweiler, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 6635
GLEN J. LERNER & ASSOCIATES
4795 South Durango Drive
Las Vegas, Nevada 89147

#### **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

Under NRAP 3A(b)(1), an aggrieved party may appeal from a "final judgment entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered." Judgment was entered against Appellant Emilia Garcia and in favor of Respondent Andrea Awerbach on August 18, 2017, which was certified as final by the district court under NRCP 54(b) on August 21, 2017.

In its July 30, 2018, "ORDER DISMISSING APPEAL, DISMISSING CROSS-APPEAL IN PART, AND REINSTATING BRIEFING", this Court held that Emilia's cross-appeal may proceed as to that judgment and, to the extent necessary to afford complete review, any interlocutory orders affecting that judgment. The clerk of the court was also instructed to modify the caption to reflect that Emilia is the appellant and Andrea is the respondent to this appeal.

#### ROUTING STATEMENT

This is the appeal of a defense judgment in favor of Defendant and Appellant Andrea Awerbach in a civil tort case. Although millions of dollars are in dispute, this matter technically concerns an appeal from a judgment, exclusive of interest, attorney fees, and costs, of \$250,000 or less in a tort case, which the court of appeals would normally hear. NRAP 17(b)(5). However, the Supreme Court should retain this appeal as a principal issue is a question of first impression involving common law and the interpretation of important statutes and rules. NRAP 17(a)(10). Specifically, whether a disqualified judge may provide input to the presiding judge in a case from which she has been disqualified. Many other jurisdictions have determined that a disqualified judge may not affect the determination of any case from which she is barred and may only perform ministerial acts to have the case transferred to another judge. This Court has not had an opportunity to address this critical issue.

The Supreme Court should also retain this case because the Nevada Supreme Court is familiar with this case and has heard two prior writ petitions from this district court case, which both involved issues intertwined with the current appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Effective October 21, 2018, this section will be renumber to NRAP 17(a)(11). *See* ADKT 501, ORDER AMENDING NEVADA RULE OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE 17.

See Awerbach v. District Court (Garcia), Case No. 68602, and Garcia v. District Court (Awerbach), Case No. 69134.

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- (1) Did the District Court err in failing to find permissive use as a matter of law, where Respondent Andrea Awerbach admitted permissive use in response to a Rule 36 request for admission, and where the trial court expressly refused to allow Respondent to withdraw the admission because the request to withdraw the admission was untimely?
- (2) Did the District Court err when it allowed a disqualified District Court Judge to directly influence the rulings of the new presiding District Court Judge assigned to the case after disqualification of the first judge?
- (3) Did the District Court err when the presiding District Court *Judge sua sponte* rescinded and modified a sanction entered by the previous District Court Judge, after the parties had prepared for trial and started *voir dire*, and despite the absence of new evidence or a finding of clear error?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Emilia Garcia ("Appellant" or "Emilia") is the Plaintiff in this civil lawsuit arising out of a January 2, 2011 motor vehicle collision (the "Collision") in Las Vegas, Nevada. Jared Awerbach ("Jared") and Andrea Awerbach ("Andrea") (collectively referred to as "Defendants"), are the Defendants in the action. Jared and his mother, Respondent Andrea Awerbach ("Andrea"), are the Defendants in the action. On the day of the Collision, Jared was driving his mother Andrea's vehicle. He was returning home from a drug deal (AA at Vol. XXVI, p. 6731-6735) after being observed "smoking out" with his customer (AA at Vol. XII, p. 2826-2828) before he got back behind the wheel. On his way back home, Jared failed to yield the right-of-way and crashed into the passenger side of Emilia's approaching vehicle. (See AA at Vol. XXVII, p. 6811 and Amended Complaint (1/14/13), at ¶ 9, AA at Vol. I, p. 22-28). Before the jury trial started, Jared was found by the trial court to be impaired as a matter of law. (Order Regarding Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Impairment (1/28/15), AA at Vol. III, p. 617-622).

Jared was living in Andrea's household at the time of the Collision. Andrea regularly gave Jared permission to drive her car, even though Jared did not have a driver's license (AA at Vol. XXIV, p. 5585), did not have his own insurance and she knew he smoked of marijuana every day. (AA at Vol. X, p. 2459). Andrea

also knew that Jared had previously caused personal injury when driving her car without a license. (AA at Vol. XXIII, p. 5729). She claimed that she had denied Jared use of her car on the day of the collision. Not because Jared had no license. Not because Jared had previously wrecked her car into another victim. Not because she knew he was high. Rather, Andrea said she did not give him permission that day. (AA at Vol. I, p. 81)

This appeal deals only with whether Jared was driving Andrea's car with her permission when he smashed into Emilia and caused permanent injuries. Judge Allf found permissive use as a matter of law as a sanction for discovery abuse. (AA at Vol. III, p. 617-622). Andrea admitted permissive use in response to a request for admission. (AA at Vol. I, p. 13-21). Nevertheless, Judge Weiss changed Judge Allf's order during voir dire and allowed Andrea to contend at trial that there was no permissive use. (AA at Vol. IV, p. 946-947). An issue no one expected to be tried. Judge Weiss also denied Emilia's request for a continuance so she could prepare to try this new issue and take discovery no one had pursued because Judge Allf's sanction rendered the issue moot.

On March 10, 2016, the jury returned a verdict. (*See* Jury Verdict (3/10/16), AA at Vol. IV, p. 998-1000). The jury awarded \$824,846.01 in past damages and \$2,000,000 in punitive damages against Jared. No future damages were awarded. The jury also found that Andrea did not give express or implied permission to

Jared to use her vehicle on January 2, 2011, and did not negligently entrust her vehicle to Jared. (*See id.* at 999).

Emilia contends that she is entitled to a judgment in her favor on permissive use as a matter of law. This issue is of overwhelming importance because Jared did not have insurance. Without a finding of permissive use, there is no financially responsible person to answer for the injuries inflicted by Andrea's car.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

#### A. EMILIA FILES A COMPLAINT.

On March 25, 2011, Emilia filed a Complaint suing Jared for negligence and Andrea for negligent entrustment and joint liability pursuant to NRS 41.440, and asserted a claim for punitive damages against both Jared and Andrea. (*See* Complaint (3/25/11), AA at Vol. I, p. 1-6; *see a*lso Amended Complaint (1/14/13), at ¶ 9, AA at Vol. I, p. 22-28).

#### B. ANDREA'S ANSWER AND ADMISSION OF PERMISSIVE USE.

On January 23, 2012, Andrea answered Emilia's Complaint and admitted that she "did entrust the vehicle to the control of Defendant JARED AWERBACH." (See id. at ¶ 23; Defendants' Answer to Complaint, at ¶ 2, AA at Vol. I, p. 7-12). One year later, in response to Emilia's Amended Complaint, Andrea flipped her answer. (See Amended Complaint (1/14/13), at ¶ 23, AA at

Vol. I, p. 22-28; *see also* Answer to Amended Complaint (2/7/13), at ¶ 17, AA at Vol. I, p.7-12).

### C. ANDREA ADMITTED PERMISSIVE USE IN RESPONSE REQUESTS FOR ADMISSION.

On June 5, 2012, Andrea responded to Emilia's Requests for Admissions in accord with her original Answer and once again admitted that she entrusted the operation of her vehicle to Jared with her "permission". ("Admit JARED AWEBACH was operating your vehicle on January 2, 2011, with your permission". Response: "Admit". (See Defendant Andrew Awerbach's Responses to Request for Admissions, Req., No. 2, AA at Vol. I, p. 14).

#### D. ANDREA'S ACTIVE CONCEALMENT OF THE CLAIMS NOTE.

During discovery, Appellant successfully moved the District Court to order Andrea to produce claims notes from her insurer, Liberty Mutual. On July 22, 2013, Andrea produced what appeared to be an exhaustive list of Liberty Mutual's claims notes. (*See* Second Supplement to List of Witnesses and Documents And Tangible Items Produced at Early Case Conference, AA at Vol. I, p. 36-60). However, Andrea's production secretly concealed a critical piece of evidence: the claims note, dated January 17, 2011, at 4:44 p.m., which had been redacted in order to make it appear as if that note was never created. (AA at Vol. I, p. 48).

Andrea furthered the concealment by creating a misleading privilege log, which indicated that "Adjustor's Claims Notes between January 2-17, 2011" have

been disclosed and only "notes <u>after</u> January 17, 2011, [have been] <u>withheld</u>." *Id*. The privilege log further confirmed that Andrea was only claiming privilege for the claims notes dated on or after "January 18, 2011, et seq." *Id*. Andrea's surreptitious intent to conceal this evidence was discovered later by Appellant's Counsel as a result of their diligence.

#### E. ANDREA'S CONCEALMENT OF EVIDENCE DURING HER DEPOSITION.

Appellant first deposed Andrea on September 12, 2013, approximately two months after Andrea served Appellant with the whited-out claims note. During the deposition, Andrea testified inconsistently with the whited-out claims note, which, of course, had not yet been uncovered by Appellant's counsel. (*See e.g.*, Andrea Awerbach's Depo. Tran. Vol I (09/12/13), at 21:1-23, AA at Vol. I, p. 81 (testifying Jared did not ask for permission to drive the car that day, that she did not know where Jared got the keys, that there was no regular place where she would leave the keys, and that she constantly hid the keys)). Andrea also admitted speaking with her insurer following the collision, but claimed ignorance whether the conversation was recorded or when the conversations occurred. (*Id.* at 26:12-19; AA at Vol. I, p. 86).

In fact, Andrea furthered the deception shortly after her first deposition by filing a Motion for Summary Judgment claiming it was undisputed she did not give Jared permission to drive her car on January 2, 2011. (See Defendant Andrea

Awerbach's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, AA at Vol. I, p. 96-163). Again, this motion was made while Andrea was actively concealing evidence that contradicted her motion. Andrea ultimately withdrew her Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.

Andrea was deposed again on October 24, 2014, and again testified extensively to material information that clearly contradicted the claims note, which, at that point, had still not yet been uncovered by Appellant's counsel. (*See e.g.*, Andrea Awerbach's Depo. Tran. Vol II (10/24/14), at 82:1-18, AA at Vol. I, p.247 (testifying she hid the keys)). As previously stated and as detailed below, the withheld information did not come to light until Appellant independently obtained it from Andrea's insurer.

F. THE HIDDEN CLAIMS NOTE, WHICH WAS UNCOVERED ONLY THROUGH THE DILIGENCE OF APPELLANT'S COUNSEL, CONTRADICTED ANDREA'S DEPOSITION TESTIMONY.

Appellant discovered the concealed claims note on November 10, 2014, when Andrea's insurer, Liberty Mutual, produced the note in response to Appellant's subpoena *duces tecum*. The Liberty Mutual adjustor who created the note subsequently testified to the note's authenticity and confirmed the note accurately memorialized the adjustor's January 17, 2011, conversation with Andrea. (*See* Teresa Meraz's Depo. Transcript (11/10/14), at 15:19-23, AA at Vol. III, p. 595).

The contents of the concealed note contradict Andrea's adamant testimony at both of her depositions, wherein she vehemently claimed (i) that she constantly hid her keys for fear that her drug abusing son might have access to the car, (ii) that she never gave Jared permission to drive her vehicle, and (iii) that she had no idea how Jared obtained the keys on the day of the crash. The surreptitiously concealed portions of the claims note establish that Andrea told her insurer days after the crash that she had previously let Jared drive her car, she gave him the keys earlier in the day, and she usually kept the keys on the mantle. Amazingly, when Andrea was asked under oath about Jared claiming Andrea left the keys out, Andrea claimed her son was mistaken. (*See* Andrea Awerbach's Depo. Tran. Vol II (10/24/14), at 161:9-19, AA at Vol. II, p. 326). It seems clear that Andrea changed her story once she understood the legal ramifications of permissive use

# G. JUDGE ALLF SANCTIONED ANDREA WITH A FINDING OF PERMISSIVE USE AS A RESULT OF ANDREA'S IMPROPER CONCEALMENT OF EVIDENCE.

On December 2, 2014, Emilia filed a motion to strike Andrea's Answer based on Andrea's intentional concealment of admissions made to her insurance company. (*See* Plaintiff's Motion to Strike Andrea Awerbach's Answer, AA at Vol. II-III, p. 392-580). On February 25, 2015, Judge Allf granted Emilia's Motion in part and issued a written decision (drafted by Judge Allf, not counsel) providing in relevant part:

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review <u>Andrea gave her son</u> <u>permission to use the car and a finding of permissive use is</u> <u>appropriate</u> because the claims note was concealed improperly, was relevant, and was willfully withheld by Defendant Andrea.

(See Decision and Order, filed on February 25, 2015 (emphasis added), AA at Vol. III, p. 623-629).

On March 13, 2015, Andrea filed a Motion seeking reconsideration of Judge Allf's Order. (*See* Defendant Andrea Awerbach's Motion for Relief from Final Court Order (3/13/15), AA at Vol. III, p. 630-641). The Court denied Andrea's Motion and issued a second written decision, drafted by Judge Allf, not counsel:

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that here the Court did consider the Ribeiro factors and did enter the less severe sanction of finding there was permissive use rather than striking Defendant Andrea's answer as requested by Plaintiff's Motion. The finding of permissive use specifically relates to the content of the improperly withheld claims note, which included a statement by Defendant Andrea that she had given Defendant Jared permission to use her car at the time of the accident. The finding of permissive use does not prevent adjudication on the merits because Plaintiff still maintains the burden of showing causation and damages. The withholding of the note and the misleading privilege log was willful, and sanctions are necessary to "deter the both the parties and future litigants from similar abuses." Id. Although the note was withheld by previous counsel, Defendant Andrea's deposition testimony at both of her depositions was contrary to her statement to her insurance carrier. The sanction was crafted to provide a fair result to both parties, given the severity of the issue.

(See Decision and Order (4/27/15), AA at Vol. III, p. 642-646).

On August 12, 2015, Andrea filed a Writ of Mandamus or Prohibition (Case No.: 68602) requesting that this Court vacate Judge Allf's permissive use sanction.

Andrea's Petition was denied on September 11, 2015. The parties then relied on Judge Allf's permissive use sanction for the next year and prepared for trial believing the issue of permissive use was resolved and no longer an issue for trial. This governed the totality of the parties' trial preparation, including drafting motions in limine and making crucial strategic decisions regarding witnesses, evidence, trial counsel<sup>2</sup>, and trial presentation.

#### H. JUDGE ALLF RECUSES HERSELF.

On August 27, 2015, Judge Allf recused herself because of a conflict with Jared's newly (and possibly strategically) associated counsel, Randall Tindall. (See Notice of Department Reassignment, AA at Vol. III, p. 647-649). Judge Allf had previously recused herself when Mr. Tindall had appeared before her. On September 8, 2015, Emilia requested Mr. Tindall be disqualified and the action reassigned to Judge Allf. During the September 15, 2015, hearing on Emilia's Motion, the District Court denied Emilia's request to reassign the case back to Judge Allf, but made it clear: "I'm going to follow what her rulings were." (See Sep. 15, 2015 Hearing Transcript, at 20:19:20, AA at Vol. IV, p. 920) (emphasis added). On November 10, 2015, Emilia filed a Writ of Mandamus (Case No.:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> WEINBERG, WHEELER, HUDGINS, GUNN & DIAL, LLC. first appeared for Emilia after the sanction was entered, and reasonable relied on the sanction finding permissive use in negotiating a contingency fee for the trial of the case.

69134) requesting that Jared's Counsel, Randall Tindall, be disqualified and that the case be reassigned to Judge Allf's Department. Emilia's Petition was denied.

# I. JUDGE WEISS SUA SPONTE REVERSES JUDGE ALLF'S PERMISSIVE USE SANCTION DURING VOIR DIRE.

On February 8, 2016, approximately one year after Judge Allf issued her sanction order; approximately nine months after she reaffirmed that order; six months after she recused herself from the action based on the strategic retention of Mr. Tindall; and one-half day into voir dire, the District Court orally vacated and modified both of Judge Allf's permissive use orders, *sua sponte*, apparently based on a conversation the Judge Weiss had with Judge Allf regarding her intent when she issued the permissive use sanction:

THE COURT: . . . We're outside the presence of the jury. I know that one of the things that you guys wanted me to tell you how we're going to handle is this issue of permissive use. So I talked to Judge Allf this morning to try to figure out what was her intention when she entered that order. I don't think she understood the difference between permissive use and auto negligent entrustment. That being said, it was her intention that her ruling would result in a rebuttable presumption, not a determination as a matter of law, even though that's what the order says. I'm not going to change from permissive use to negligent entrustment, even though I think that's probably what she envisioned. But I am going to make it a rebuttal presumption as it relates to the permissive use. So -- and that's based upon what her intention was.

(See Feb. 8, 2016, Hearing Transcript, at 61:8-25 (emphasis added), AA at Vol. VII, p. 1615).

As expressly indicated by Judge Weise on the record, the reversal of Judge Allf's permissive use sanction was based upon a discussion with Judge Allf (who had long ago recused herself due to a conflict) as to her recollection of her intention – an apparent recollection in direct conflict with the plain language of her orders. Judge Weiss acknowledged that Judge Allf's recollection of her intent contradicts the plain language of both of the orders drafted by Judge Allf (not counsel), which the parties had relied upon in preparation for trial:

MR. ROBERTS: -- I'm somewhat taken aback by this. We weren't there at the time. So I've been mainly relying on the order in preparing to try the case. The order says nothing about rebuttable presumption. It says that permissive use is found as matter of law as a sanction.

THE COURT: I know.

(*Id.* at 63:11-17; AA at Vol. VII, p. 1617) (emphasis added). Even Andrea's counsel (the beneficiary of the reversal) recognized the parties' inability to anticipate a reversal of the permissive use order in preparing for trial:

MR. MAZZEO: But it does throw a wrench in the works because we didn't anticipate as -- as we're preparing for trial, I'm sure both sides were not looking at this case in terms of, okay, what evidence do we need now to rebut the ruling on permissive use.

(Id. at 62:20-63:1; AA at Vol. VII, p. 1616).

///

///

///

# J. EMILIA FILES A BRIEF ASKING THE DISTRICT COURT TO RECONSIDER ITS DECISION.

On February 10, 2016, two days after the District Court's oral pronouncement of its intention to *sua sponte* amend Judge Allf's prior orders, and before the court drafted a written order, Appellant filed a brief asking the court to reconsider its decision. (*See* Plaintiff's Trial Brief Regarding Permissive Use (2/10/16), AA at Vol. IV, p. 933-945). Appellant explained in detail how permissive use had been established as a matter of law by Judge Allf's orders, by Andrea's Answer to the original Complaint, and by her permissive use admission. (*See generally id.*). Appellant's counsel also argued these points in open court. (*See* Trial Transcript (2/10/16), at 139:24-143:11, AA at Vol. IX, p. 2135-2139). The District Court did not issue an oral order from the bench. (*Id.* at 147:19-148:2; AA at Vol. IX, p. 2143-2144).

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