Case No. 71348

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

EMILIA GARCIA,

Appellant,

us.

ANDREA AWERBACH,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Mar 04 2019 11:05 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable JERRY A. WEISE, II, District Judge District Court Case No. A-11-637772-C

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Daniel F. Polsenberg (SBN 2376)
Joel D. Henriod (SBN 8492)
Abraham G. Smith (SBN 13,250)
Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie Llp
3993 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169
(702) 949-8200
DPolsenberg@LRRC.com

PETER MAZZEO (SBN 9387)

MAZZEO LAW, LLC
631 South Tenth Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

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

An owner of a motor vehicle is liable for any damages proximately resulting from the negligence of an immediate family member in driving and operating the vehicle upon a highway with the owner's express or implied permission.

As advised in these instructions, Defendant Jared Awerbach was negligent and caused the accident that give rise to this case. You must then *determine* whether or not he was driving with the express or implied permission of Defendant Andrea Awerbach.

If you find that Defendant Jared Awerbach did not have such permission, then your verdict must be in favor of Defendant Andrea Awerbach.

But if you find that such permission, express or implied, had been given, you must find Defendant Andrea Awerbach also liable.

(4 App. 980.) That factual determination was part of the jury's verdict:

5. Did Defendant Andrea Awerbach give express or implied permission to Defendant Jared Awerbach to use her vehicle on January 2, 2011?

	YES	NO	
(4 App. 9	99.)		

Plaintiff now suggests that a separate instruction "required the jury to find permissive use as a result of Andrea's Admission" (AOB at 20), alluding to grounds for a new trial for the jury's disregard of instructions under Rule 59(a)(5). The oblique reference to Rule 59 cannot justify overturning the jury's verdict fails for three reasons:

First, plaintiff does not actually advance this position as an issue on appeal. Plaintiff did not argue the point in her motion for new trial and does not make it one of her issues presented. (5 App. 1001-30; AOB at x.) She has waived it. *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981).

Second, plaintiff did not object to Instructions 31 and 32 or Interrogatory 5 on the verdict form, all making it clear that the jury was free to determine that Andrea had not permitted Jared to use her car. There was overwhelming evidence to support the jury's factual finding, and plaintiff's failure to object to these instructions and the verdict form defeats any argument for a new trial. See NRCP 51(c)(1) ("A party who objects to an instruction or the failure to give an instruction must do so on the record, stating distinctly the matter objected to and the grounds of the objection.").

Third, Instruction 14 did *not* require the jury to disregard the other instructions and find permissive use. That instruction does not actually state—much less make it clear to lay jurors—that it applies to responses provided by a party's former attorney: "You will regard as being conclusively proved all such matters of fact which were expressly

admitted by the Defendant, Andrea Awerbach, or which Defendant,
Andrea Awerbach, failed to deny." (4 App. 962 (emphasis added).)

Plaintiff did not object to this vague wording. And in any case, plaintiff
never introduced in her case the admission that Instruction No. 14 even
arguably requires the jury to deem conclusive. Plaintiff has forfeited
any contention that the jury ignored that instruction.

II.

THE DISTRICT COURT HAD AUTHORITY AND GOOD REASON TO MODIFY THE PREVIOUS SANCTION ORDER

The district court acted within its discretion¹⁰ when it modified the interlocutory sanction order to account for the order's unforeseen impact on plaintiff's claim for punitive damages. The result was just. And plaintiff was not genuinely prejudiced.

A. The District Court Had Authority to Modify the Sanction Ruling When Problematic Complexities Concerning Punitive Damages Became Apparent

The district court acted within its discretion when it modified the sanction order. See AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Washington, 126 Nev.

¹⁰ This Court reviews a district court's imposition of discovery sanctions for an abuse of discretion. *See Mona v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 72, 380 P.3d 836, 840 (2016); *Foster v. Dingwall*, 126 Nev. 56, 65, 227 P.3d 1042, 1048 (2010).

578, 589, 245 P.3d 1190, 1197 (2010) (the district court's decision to grant a motion for reconsideration is reviewed for abuse of discretion).

1. The Court Had Authority to Modify the Pretrial Order Issued by the Previous Judge, even Sua Sponte, Upon Due Consideration

The district court's order modifying the sanction order was procedurally appropriate. The district court remains free to reconsider any interlocutory order prior to entry of final judgment. See NRCP 54; Ins. Co. of the W. v. Gibson Tile Co., 122 Nev. 455, 466, 134 P.3d 698, 705 n. 4 (2006) (per Maupin, J., concurring) ("the district court is empowered to correct erroneous rulings at any time prior to the entry of final judgment"). "A court could not operate successfully under the requirement of infallibility in its interim rulings." People v. Castello, 77 Cal. Rptr. 2d 314, 319 (Cal. App. 1998). Trial judges also may reconsider a prior ruling *sua sponte*; they "need not be chained to erroneous rulings until a party urges reconsideration." Martinez v. State, 336 S.W.3d 338, 342 (Tex. App. 2010); see Anderson v. Anderson, 544 A.2d 501, 506 (Pa. Super. 1988); IHC Health Servs., Inc. v. D & K Mgmt., Inc., 196 P.3d 588, 596 (Utah 2008).

Trial judges may reconsider decisions of previous judges on the case, moreover, not just their own. See Gibson Tile Co., 122 Nev. at 466, 134 P.3d at 705 n. 4 ("I realize that the judge who tried the matter below inherited her predecessor's erroneous ruling on the indemnity claim. However, the district court is empowered to correct erroneous rulings . . ."); In re Estate of Jones, 287 P.3d 610 (Wash. App. 2012) ("where a case is transferred to a new judge at the same court, the transferee judge is not foreclosed from revisiting a ruling the previous judge made"). "Were it otherwise, a trial judge would have no authority to reconsider a prior ruling or correct a prior mistake but would have to memorialize the original ruling in a judgment in order for an appellate court to correct the problem." Estate of Jones, 287 P.3d at 610.

2. Judge Weise Did Not Need Permission from Judge Allf to Modify Pretrial Rulings in the Case

Judge Wiese did not require any request from, or permission of, the prior judge in the case to modify the sanction. Plaintiff's reliance on Rule 18(1) of the Nevada District Court Rules ("DCR") is misplaced. By their own terms, the default DCR do not apply where local rules of particular districts supplant them:

These rules cover the practice and procedure in all actions in the district courts of all districts where no local rule covering the same subject has been approved by the supreme court. Local rules which are approved for a particular judicial district shall be applied in each instance whether they are the same as or inconsistent with these rules.

DCR 5. The applicable rule in the Eighth Judicial District is EDCR 7.10, which limits interference by judges "other than the assigned judge" to the case. Nothing precludes a subsequent judge rightfully assigned to the same case from reevaluating prior decisions as appropriate. Gibson Tile Co., 122 Nev. at 466 n.4, 134 P.3d at 705 n.4. Indeed, that is the most sensible interpretation even of DCR 18(1). See Rohlfing v. Second Judicial Dist. Court, 106 Nev. 902, 906, 803 P.2d 659, 662 (1990) (DCR 18 does not preclude a subsequent judge in the same case from disagreeing with the prior judge and reversing course in that matter). 11

_

¹¹ Even if *State v. Babayan* applied in this case, it would not undermine Judge Wiese's modification of the sanctions order. The *Babayan* Court was addressing in dicta the impropriety of the second judge overruling a particular finding of fact and conclusion of law by the prior judge, as opposed to the ultimate remedy ordered. *State v. Babayan*, 106 Nev. 155, 164, 787 P.2d 805, 813 (1990) ("we observe that Judge Whitehead's order addressed only whether the District Attorney's Office was under the influence and control of civil attorneys"). The *Babayan* Court ultimately affirmed that aspect of the second judge's ruling (dismissal of

Plaintiff contends that "a successor district court may reconsider a previously decided issue only if 'substantially different evidence is subsequently introduced, or the decision is clearly erroneous'." (AOB at 21, quoting Masonry & Tile Contractors Ass'n of S. Nevada v. Jolley, Urga & Wirth, Ltd., 113 Nev. 737, 741, 941, P.2d 486, 489 (1997)). Yet, those limitations are "designed to conserve the court's resources by constraining litigants who would attempt to bring the same motion over and over. On the other hand, these same judicial resources would be wasted if the court could not, on its own motion, review and change its interim rulings." Darling, Hall & Rae v. Kritt, 89 Cal. Rptr. 2d 676, 682 (Cal. App. 1999), as modified on denial of reh'g (Oct. 26, 1999).

Thus, reconsideration may be appropriate "[a]lthough the facts and the law [are] unchanged [if] the judge [is] more familiar with the case by the time the second motion [is] heard, and [is] persuaded by the rationale of the newly cited authority." *Harvey's Wagon Wheel, Inc. v.*MacSween, 96 Nev. 215, 218, 606 P.2d 1095, 1097 (1980). The district court may correct course:

(

criminal indictments) that purportedly conflicted with the determination of the first judge. *Id*.

... when (1) the matter is presented in a "different light" or under "different circumstances"; (2) there has been a change in the governing law; (3) a party offers new evidence; (4) "manifest injustice" will result if the court does not reconsider the prior ruling; (5) a court needs to correct its own errors; or (6) an issue was inadequately briefed when first contemplated by the court.

Wasatch Oil & Gas, LLC v. Reott, 263 P.3d 391, 396 (Utah Ct. App. 2011). The court need only exercise due consideration before modifying, amending, or revoking its prior orders. Kritt, 89 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 682.

3. The Court Was Correctly Concerned about Andrea's Right to Contest Fully Plaintiff's Claim for Punitive Damages

Judge Wiese amended the sanction order only after careful consideration. As trial approached and he heard Andrea's motion for summary judgment on punitive damages, the judge contemplated how a definitive finding of permissive use would devastate Andrea's ability to defend herself against plaintiff's allegation of implied malice (2 R. App. 421-433). Modification became appropriate for a couple reasons:

First, Judge Wiese was considering a particular implication of the sanction for the first time. Judge Allf had not considered the effect of the sanction on Andrea's ability to defend against punitive damages.

She told Judge Wiese that she hadn't. (9 App. 2152-54.) Neither of her

orders regarding the sanction address the potential impact on punitive damages. (3 App. 625, 3 App. 642.) The effect of the sanction on punitive damages was not discussed in the sanctions briefing (see, e.g., 2) App. 392, 3 App. 630) or during arguments (1 R. App. 20:20-38:21).

Second, Judge Wiese recognized that the impact of a definitive finding of permissive use on punitive damages—which could quadruple the judgment (see NRS 42.005(1))—had to be considered in its own right.¹² Punitive damages are qualitatively different from compensatory damages, going to punishment rather than compensation. They are thus quasi-criminal penalties. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408, 417 (2003) (stating that punitive damages "serve the same purposes as criminal penalties"); Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Corp., 691 S.E.2d 135, 150 (S.C. 2010) ("[P]unitive damages are quasi-criminal in nature."); George Grubbs Enters., Inc. v. *Bien*, 900 S.W.2d 337, 339 (Tex. 1995) ("In contrast to compensatory damages, exemplary damages rest on justifications similar to those for

¹² In the best tradition of the judiciary, judging includes "never failing, each time, to take at least one fresh look": to "see it fresh," "see it as it works," "see it clean," and "come back to make sure." KARL LLEWELLYN, THE COMMON LAW TRADITION: DECIDING APPEALS 293, 510 (1960), quoted in David McGowan, Judicial Writing and the Ethics of the Judicial Office, 14 Geo. J. Legal Ethics 509, 600 (2001).

criminal punishment."). And, because punitive damages impose punishment akin to criminal sanctions, there are "heightened due process considerations surrounding punitive damages awards" under the Fourteenth Amendment. *Grisham v. Philip Morris, Inc.*, 670 F. Supp. 2d 1014, 1036 (C.D. Cal. 2009). Thus, the showing of malice based on conscious disregard is an issue of constitutional dimension. *See generally, e.g., Philip Morris USA v. Williams*, 549 U.S. 346 (2007); *BMW of N. Am., Inc. v. Gore*, 517 U.S. 559 (1996); *TXO Prod. Corp. v. Alliance Res. Corp.*, 509 U.S. 443 (1993); *Pac. Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. Haslip*, 499 U.S. 1 (1991).

Even where a district court strikes an answer, the impact on punitive damages must be assessed carefully. "A plaintiff is never entitled to punitive damages as a matter of right, their allowance or

_

¹³ See also Campbell, 538 U.S. at 417 (basing the Court's decision on the fact that "defendants subjected to punitive damages in civil cases have not been accorded the protections applicable in a criminal proceeding[, which] increases our concerns over the imprecise manner in which punitive damages systems are administered"); George Grubbs, 900 S.W.2d at 339 ("Because exemplary damages resemble criminal punishment, they require appropriate substantive and procedural safeguards to minimize the risk of unjust punishment."); Austin, 691 S.E.2d at 150 ("Because punitive damages are quasi-criminal in nature, the process of assessing punitive damages is subject to the protections of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution.").

denial rests entirely in the discretion of the trier of fact." Nev. Cement Co. v. Lemler, 89 Nev. 447, 451, 514 P.2d 1180, 1182 (1973); Ramada Inns v. Sharp, 101 Nev. 824, 826, 711 P.2d 1, 2 (1985). In the case of defaults, courts are particularly concerned that defendants be permitted to fully defend against punitive damages claims because such damages "are not favored in the law" to begin with. Cf. Moldon v. Reid, 558 N.E.2d 239, 244 (Ill. Ct. App. 1990) (defendant against whom ex parte judgment was entered was entitled to contest issue of damages, "particularly punitive damages"); Nettles v. MacMillan Petroleum Corp., 37 S.E.2d 134, 135 (S.C. 1946) (reversible error in awarding punitive damages by default without aid of a jury).

The district court, therefore, had good reason to pause and evaluate whether a definitive finding of "permissive use" would be an appropriate sanction *as applied* in a trial where punitive damages were sought:

As trial approached, defense counsel requested on several occasions that the Court allow Defendant the opportunity to tell the jury what she believed to be the "truth," about permissive use, even though there was a finding by the Court that "permissive use" was established as a matter of law. The Court was not inclined to disturb the prior findings and orders of Judge Allf, but the Court was faced with the dilemma

that Judge Allf's prior Order not only established "permission" by Andrea Awerbach to Jared Awerbach, but it also essentially established an element of the Plaintiff's claim for punitive damages against Andrea Awerbach, without allowing Ms. Awerbach the opportunity to explain herself. This Court was not comfortable with such a finding, especially as it applied to the punitive damages claim.

(4 App. 946:16-25.)

Finally, Judge Weise had a right to consider the distinction between the actions of an attorney and the client in the context of discovery sanctions. Compare Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc., 106 Nev. at 93, 787 P.2d at 780 (discussing necessary consideration of "whether sanctions unfairly operate to penalize a party for the misconduct of his or her attorney"), with Huckabay Properties, Inc. v. NC Auto Parts, LLC, 130 Nev. 196, 208, 322 P.3d 429, 437 (2014) (failure of an attorney to adhere to a filing deadline is imputed to the client). Here, the discovery sanction had been issued—harshly—for the acts of Andrea's former counsel, not for anything Andrea had done. In other words, the actor who committed the sanctionable misconduct was no longer in the case. In light of Andrea's own innocence, her retention of new counsel, the lack of prejudice, and the specter of punitive damages, the district court acted within it discretion by modifying that sanction.

4. Judge Weiss's Conversation with Judge Allf was Harmless

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